# Supreme Court Copy

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

JOHN DOE,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

KAMALA D. HARRIS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S191948 UPREME COURT

AUG 15 2011

Frederick K. Opine

Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, Case No. 09-17362

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit certified the following question of California law to this Court:

"Under California law of contract interpretation as applicable to the interpretation of plea agreements, does the law in effect at the time of a plea agreement bind the parties or can the terms of a plea agreement be affected by changes in the law?"

#### INTRODUCTION

This case involves the implementation of plea bargains, "a desirable and essential component of the administration of justice." (*People v. Masloski* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1212, 1216.) It concerns no less than the Legislature's power to enact general and uniform laws applying to all criminal defendants, including those who enter into a plea bargain.

The certified question arises in the context of plaintiff's theory that state law principles of contract interpretation make a plea bargain a binding agreement by the parties to apply only those laws in existence at the time of the plea. Under that theory, the accused who accepts a plea bargain acquires immunity from future amendments to statutes—including amendments regularly adopted under the state's police power and expressly intended to apply retroactively and uniformly to all convicted defendants.

The Attorney General asserts that plea bargains are not implied agreements to "freeze" the law to its corpus on the day of the plea. When applied to a plea bargain, California contract law principles no more imply an agreement constraining legislative power to amend statutes than they imply an agreement constraining judicial power to interpret the Constitution. Plea agreements incorporate *all* extant law—including the reserve power to legislate retroactively, subject to such constitutional requirements as may exist or be declared in the future.

That power includes statutory amendments intended to secure public safety, including amendments requiring the posting of registered sex offender information on the state's Megan's Law website. Plaintiff's theory of plea-bargain immunity from post-bargain legislation is unsupported by California decisions applying contract law to plea agreements. Likewise, his notion of a class of plea-bargaining defendants perpetually exempt from amendatory legislation threatens serious conflict with the constitutional guarantee of equal protection of the law. It also makes the state's sex offender registration requirements unadministrable in practice and unenforceable in law.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# A. State Court Proceedings

In February 1991, the San Mateo County District Attorney charged plaintiff John Doe<sup>1</sup> with six counts of lewd and lascivious acts on a child (Pen. Code, § 288, subd. (a)), which carried a maximum sentence of 18 years in prison. (ER 139-141, 145.<sup>2</sup>) In August 1991, Doe entered into a plea bargain, whereby he pleaded no contest to one count in exchange for the dismissal of the other five counts and a promise that he would not be

The federal district court granted Doe's request to proceed under a pseudonym and ordered documents identifying Doe to be filed under seal. The Ninth Circuit also granted Doe's request to proceed under a pseudonym and to file the briefs and supporting documents under seal. However, the Ninth Circuit declined to seal or to redact its published order in this case, which in any event contained "scant information" about plaintiff's identity, because of "the public interest in understanding the judicial process." (*Doe v. Harris* (9th Cir. 2011) 640 F.3d 972, 973, fn. 1, citation omitted). Doe has not sought to seal the briefs in this Court. Any descriptors in this brief appeared in the Ninth Circuit's order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "ER" refers to the Excerpts of Record filed in the Ninth Circuit, which were transmitted to this Court pursuant to Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.548(c). "CR" refers to the Clerk's Record of the district court's civil docket; numbers are to the particular docket entries.

sent to prison. Doe was ultimately sentenced to probation and four months in a work furlough program.

As a result of the plea, Doe was automatically subject to the mandatory sex offender registration requirement of Penal Code section 290. At the time of the plea, the parties agreed that Doe had to register, but did not otherwise discuss the registration requirement. The written plea agreement stated only that the bargain's consequences included "290 P.C. registration." (ER 273 [change of plea form].)

In 1991, Penal Code section 290 stated that the registration information was not open to inspection except by law enforcement personnel, and that the defendant had to register only once unless he moved from his primary residence. Subsequently, the California Legislature amended section 290 to require the posting of registration information on a state-maintained website, and to require the updating of registration information annually. (Pen. Code, § 290.46; see http://www.meganslaw.ca.gov). The amendments expressly provided that the public notification provisions applied retroactively to every person described in the statute without regard to the date of the offense or the registration obligation. (Pen. Code, § 290.46, subd. (m) ["The public notification provisions of this section are applicable to every person described in this section, without regard to when his or her crimes were committed or his or her duty to register pursuant to Section 290 arose, and to every offense described in this section, regardless of when it was committed.].") Under the amendments to section 290, Doe's registration information became available on California's Megan's Law website, and he had to register every year.

# **B.** District Court Proceedings

On July 11, 2007, Doe filed a complaint pursuant to 42 United States Code section 1983 in the federal district court. (CR 1.) Doe alleged that

the amendments to Penal Code section 290 were contrary to his plea bargain and that implementation of the amendments by the Attorney General violated his right to due process.<sup>3</sup> Doe sought a permanent injunction directing the state to remove his registration information from the Megan's Law website and to set aside the annual registration requirement.

The parties agreed that this kind of plea bargain dispute is governed by state law. (Ricketts v. Adams (1987) 483 U.S. 1, 6, fn. 3; Buckley v. Terhune (9th Cir. 2006) (en banc) 441 F.3d 688, 695.) On August 31, 2007, the Attorney General moved to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. (CR 16-7). The motion was based on the Ninth Circuit's recognition that, "in California, contracts (including plea bargains) are 'deemed to incorporate and contemplate not only the existing law but the reserve power of the state to amend the law or enact additional laws." (Davis v. Woodford (9th Cir. 2006) 446 F.3d 957, 962 (Davis), quoting People v. Gipson (2004) 117 Cal. App. 4th 1065, 1070 (Gipson).) On February 22, 2008, the Magistrate Judge denied the motion to dismiss. The Magistrate Judge stated that the question was whether any promises were made that Doe's registration information would remain confidential regardless of any future changes to the law. (ER 283.) The Magistrate Judge determined that dismissal was premature because "[h]ypothetically, other statements besides the bare recitals in the plea

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Doe did not argue that the retroactivity of the public notification provisions in the amended statute violate the ex post facto clauses of the state or federal Constitutions. Every court to examine that question has concluded that sex offender registration laws do not constitute punishment, and therefore can be applied retroactively. (E.g., *Smith v. Doe* (2003) 538 U.S. 84, 105-106; *Hatton v. Bonner* (9th Cir. 2003) 356 F.3d 955; *People v. Castellanos* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 785, 788.)

agreement might have been made to the Plaintiff in court at the time of the plea or the sentence or in other circumstances." (*Ibid.*)

Following discovery, the Attorney General, on September 25, 2008, moved for summary judgment, on the ground that the undisputed evidence showed that no other promises regarding the registration requirement had been made to Doe. The parties agreed that they did not discuss the scope of the registration requirement at the time of the plea or sentencing; therefore, the prosecutor could not have agreed that Doe would be exempt from any amendments to Penal Code section 290. (CR 40.) On November 12, 2008, the Magistrate Judge orally indicated that he wanted to further develop the record, and denied the motion.

At an evidentiary hearing on January 16, 2009, Doe called his two retained trial attorneys; the Attorney General called the prosecutor; and Doe testified in rebuttal. The evidence confirmed that the prosecutor and defense counsel did not discuss the registration requirement at the time of the plea or sentencing, other than the fact that it applied to Doe. (ER 82-83, 149-151, 162-163.) Defense counsel had filled out the change of plea form. but forgot to include any of the mandatory consequences in the "maximum penalty" section. The prosecutor reviewed the form, noticed the omissions, and wrote in the mandatory consequences of the plea, including parole, fines, testing, and "290 P.C. registration." There was no dispute that Doe was subject to those mandatory consequences, and counsel and Doe initialed the additions to the form. (ER 65-66, 85-86, 152-154, 273). Doe also indicated on the change of plea form that he had not "been induced to plead guilty or nolo contendere by any promise or representation of a lesser sentence, probation, reward, immunity, or anything else except: 1 count conditional plea, no state prison." (ER 274.) Doe discussed the details of the registration requirement only with his own attorneys, and they did not discuss with him the possibility that the law could change. (ER 91, 179.)

Doe acknowledged that neither the prosecutor nor the judge made any promises at the change of plea or sentencing hearings that his registration information would always remain confidential regardless of any future changes in the law. (ER 186.)<sup>4</sup>

In posthearing briefing, the Attorney General argued that *Davis* and *Gipson*, as well as numerous other cases, had adopted the rule that plea bargains in California incorporate the reserve power of the state to amend the law. (CR 62.) Doe countered that the term "290 P.C. registration" in the written plea agreement implicitly "includes a promise that his sex offender registration requirements would be governed by Penal Code section 290 as the statute existed at the time of his plea," and that Doe had relied on that implied promise, thus exempting him from future statutory amendments. (CR 58 at p. 15.)

On September 18, 2009, the Magistrate Judge granted Doe's request for a permanent injunction. (CR 72.) The Magistrate Judge found that "[p]rior to entry of the plea there was no discussion between the prosecutor and defense counsel about the registration requirement except the fact that it was required, which the prosecutor memorialized by adding it to the change of plea form." (ER 2.) The Magistrate Judge ruled that the written plea form's reference to "P.C. 290," included an implied promise that Doe would only be subject to the law as it existed in 1991. (ER 2; ER 4-5 [finding enforceable obligation based on "the plain language of Section 290 as written at the time, which was incorporated in his change of plea—that his registration would remain confidential and distribution of his registration information would be limited according to the terms of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The transcript of the change of plea hearing is no longer available, as the court reporter destroyed the notes after 10 years. (See Gov. Code, §§ 68152(j)(7), 69955(e).)

statute"]; ER 16 [the term "P.C. 290" in the plea agreement meant "compliance with that section of the Penal Code, as it was written at the time of the plea"].)<sup>5</sup>

# C. Ninth Circuit Proceedings

The Attorney General appealed to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.<sup>6</sup> On April 2, 2011, the Ninth Circuit issued a published order certifying a question of state law to this Court regarding California's approach to contract interpretation as it applies to plea bargains. (*Doe v. Harris* (9th Cir. 2011) 640 F.3d 972). Identifying five California cases as potentially relevant, the Ninth Circuit indicated its view that two of the decisions were "in tension" with the other three. (*Id.* at pp. 975-977.) The Ninth Circuit stated that it was unclear which set of cases applied to this potentially determinative question, and asked this Court to accept its certification request. (*Id.* at p. 977.) On June 15, 2011, this Court granted the certification request on the question set forth above.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

California law does not provide that plea bargains include an implied agreement that the defendant will only be subject to the law in effect at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Magistrate Judge also found that Doe's reliance on the implied agreement created an enforceable term of the plea bargain. (ER 4-5, 27.) The Ninth Circuit noted that this finding was based only on "private discussions which Doe had with his attorneys, and on Doe's testimony about his motivations for pleading guilty." (*Doe v. Harris, supra,* 640 F.3d at p. 974.) We have found no decision holding that such reliance alone creates an implied agreement under California law. (See *In re Honesto* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 81, 92 ["A plea agreement violation claim depends upon the actual terms of the agreement, not the subjective understanding of the defendant or deficient advice provided by his attorney."].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The state complied with the injunction pending resolution of the appeal, by removing Doe's information from the Megan's Law website and setting aside the annual registration requirement.

time of the plea. Instead, case law makes clear that plea bargains incorporate the reserve power of the state to enact retroactive changes to the law.

As in most plea bargains, the parties here did not discuss the possibility that future statutory amendments would cause a consequence of the plea to be implemented contrary to the expectations or preferences of one of the parties. There was no negotiation, to say nothing of agreement, about the consequences of the plea being implemented according to existing law only. To put it another way, even assuming that avoidance of the reserve power of a state to make and amend laws could constitute a condition of a plea bargain, it plainly was not here.

Doe nevertheless asserts that an implied agreement to that effect exists in all California plea bargains. To the contrary, the California cases that have addressed the issue unanimously reject the theory that a plea bargain's consummation at a single temporal point implies, without more, an agreement to immunize the defendant from later amendments to statutory law. Rather, unless there is some demonstrable basis for concluding otherwise, defendants who plead guilty are subject to retroactive amendments that are enacted pursuant to the state's reserve police power to promote public safety.

The approach to plea bargains posited by Doe is unworkable. It would arbitrarily tie the hands of the Legislature by exempting defendants who plead guilty from amendments that were expressly intended to apply retroactively and uniformly to all defendants. It would also give rise to serious claims of equal protection violations between defendants convicted by plea and those convicted by jury. And it would frustrate the enforcement of retroactive amendments, including the sex offender registration provisions in Penal Code section 290. This Court should

conclude that plea bargains incorporate the reserve power of the state to amend the law in order to advance public policy.

## **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF A STATUTORY CHANGE DOES NOT VIOLATE A PLEA BARGAIN
  - A. Plea Bargains Do Not Include an Implicit Agreement That Only the Existing Law Applies

"Plea bargains are generally governed by a specialized form of the law of contracts." (*People v. Kim* (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 1355, 1360.)

Under that law, there must be a meeting of the minds between the prosecution and the defense in order to create an enforceable term of a plea bargain. (*People v. Martin* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 75, 79 ["A plea bargain is a negotiated agreement between the prosecution and the defendant by which a defendant pleads guilty to one or more charges in return for dismissal of one or more other charges"]); *People v. Orin* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 937, 943 [authorizing "a process of 'bargaining' between the adverse parties to the case—the People represented by the prosecutor on one side, the defendant represented by his counsel on the other—which bargaining results in an agreement between them"]; see *Santobello v. New York* (1971) 404 U.S. 257, 262 ["when a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled"].)

A term of a plea bargain may be implied. (E.g., *People v. Martin*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 82 [where prosecutor dismissed some charges in exchange for guilty plea to other charges, an implied term of the plea bargain was that conditions of probation could not be based on the facts underlying the dismissed counts]; *People v. Arbuckle* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 749, 756-757.) However, "the record must affirmatively demonstrate some basis" for concluding that the parties implicitly agreed on a particular term.

(People v. Ruhl (1985) 168 Cal.App.3d 311, 315; In re Mark L. (1983) 34 Cal.3d 171, 177 [finding an implied agreement that the same judge who accepted the plea would impose sentence where "the record indicates an actual assumption by the court and parties that the officer taking the plea would have final and exclusive dispositional authority," as demonstrated by the judge's use of the personal pronoun and his advisement that the minor had a right to have the same judicial officer who took the plea handle the disposition].)

All of the California courts to address the specific issue before this Court have concluded that the mere fact that the parties enter into a plea bargain, without more, does *not* constitute an implied promise by the prosecutor that the defendant will only be subject to the law then in existence and will be exempt from future legislative changes. Accordingly, the courts have rejected the argument that the retroactive application of a change in the law necessarily violates the plea bargain.

# 1. California Jurisprudence Permits Retroactive Application of Amendments to Plea Bargains

In *People v. Acuna* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 1056, the defendant pleaded guilty in 1993 to a violation of Penal Code section 288 and received a probationary sentence. At the time, he was eligible to seek expungement of the conviction pursuant to Penal Code section 1203.4. However, in 1997, the Legislature amended section 1203.4 to bar expungement for violations of section 288, in order to enhance public safety by preventing child molesters from representing that they had no such conviction. (*Id.* at p. 1060.) In 1999, defendant moved to expunge his conviction, which was denied based on the amended law. On appeal, defendant claimed, inter alia, that the application of the amended statute to his case deprived him of the benefit of his plea bargain, which he contended included an implied term that he would be able to seek expungement under

the law in effect at the time he pleaded guilty. The Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, rejected the contention, because no express provision of the agreement mentioned expungement, and it clearly was not part of the parties' understanding. (*Id.* at p. 1062.)

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