IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOHN DOE,) No. S191948
Plaintiff/Appellee,)) SUPREME COURT
v.	FILED
KAMALA D. HARRIS,))) JAN - 6 2012
Defendant/Appellant.) Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
) Deputy

. Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, Case No. 09-17362 United States District Court for the Northern District of California, Case No. 07-03585 JL

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DENNIS P. RIORDAN, Esq., No. 69320 DONALD M. HORGAN, Esq., No. 121547 MICHAEL ROMANO, Esq., No. 282182 GARY DUBCOFF, Esq., No. 168089 RIORDAN & HORGAN 523 Octavia Street San Francisco, CA 94102 Telephone: (415) 431-3472

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellee JOHN DOE

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

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

ARGUMENT

I. UNDER CALIFORNIA LAW OF CONTRACTS AS APPLICABLE TO CRIMINAL PLEA AGREEMENTS, THE LAW IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF THE PLEA AGREEMENT BINDS THE PARTIES AND, ABSENT AN EXPRESS CONTRACTUAL PROVISION TO THE CONTRARY, CANNOT BE AFFECTED BY SUBSEQUENT CHANGES IN THE LAW

Pursuant to this Court's Order of June 15, 2001, the question now before this Court is: "Under California law of contract interpretation as applicable to plea agreements, does the law in effect at the time of the plea agreement bind the parties or can the terms of a plea agreement be affected by changes in the law?"

A. Black Letter California Law

(1) Plea Agreements Are Interpreted According to General Contract Principles

In *People v. Feyrer* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 426, 437, this Court unanimously held that "Because a 'negotiated plea agreement is a form of contract,' it is interpreted according to general contract principles." (quoting *People v. Shelton* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 759, 767.)

In People v. Segura (2008) 44 Cal.4th 921, 929, this Court unanimously explained:

[T]he process of plea negotiation contemplates an agreement negotiated by the People and the defendant and approved by the court. Pursuant to this procedure the defendant agrees to plead guilty [or no contest] in order to obtain a reciprocal benefit, generally consisting of a less severe punishment than that which could result if he were convicted of all offenses charged. This more lenient disposition of the charges is secured in part by prosecutorial consent to the imposition of such clement punishment, by the People's acceptance of a plea

to a lesser offense than that charged, either in degree or kind, or by the prosecutor's dismissal of one or more counts of a multi-count indictment or information. Judicial approval is an essential condition precedent to the effectiveness of the 'bargain' worked out by the defense and prosecution. But implicit in all of this is a process of 'bargaining' between the adverse parties to the case — the People represented by the prosecutor on one side, the defendant represented by his counsel on the other — which bargaining results in an agreement between them.

* * * *

Because a negotiated plea agreement is a form of contract, it is interpreted according to general contract principles. Acceptance of the agreement binds the court and the parties to the agreement. When a guilty [or nolo contendere] plea is entered in exchange for specified benefits such as the dismissal of other counts or an agreed maximum punishment, both parties, including the state, must abide by the terms of the agreement.

Segura, 44 Cal.4th at 929 (punctuation omitted) (citing, among others, *People v. Shelton* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 759, 767). This ruling is consistent with virtually every other state and federal court in the country, all of which consistently apply ordinary civil contract law to the interpretation of criminal plea agreements.³

³ See, e.g., Wilder v. State (Fla. App. 2011) 69 So.3d 1096 ("A plea agreement is a contract and the rules of contract law are applicable to plea agreements."); Com. v. Anderson (Penn. Super. 2010) 995 A.2d 1184, 1191 ("Although a plea agreement occurs in a criminal context, it remains contractual in nature and is to be analyzed under contract-law standards."); McClanahan v. Com. (Ky. 2010) 308 S.W.3d 694, 701 ("Generally, plea agreements in criminal cases are contracts between the accused and the Commonwealth, and are interpreted according to ordinary contract principles."); State v. Wills (S.C. App. 2010) 700 S.E.2d 266, 268 ("[P]lea agreements are to be construed in accordance with general contract principles."); Green v. State (Ark. 2009) 313 S.W.3d

(2) Under General Contract Law Principles, the Law in Effect at the Time of the Formation of the Contract Binds the Parties at a Later Date

In Swenson v. File (1970) 3 Cal. 3d 389, 394-395, this Court unanimously held that "laws enacted subsequent to the execution of an agreement are not ordinarily deemed to become part of the agreement unless [the agreement's] language clearly indicates this to

^{521, 524 (&}quot;We apply general contract principles in interpreting plea agreements."); Littleton v. State (Miss. App. 2008) 3 So.3d 760, 762 ("A negotiated plea agreement between the State and a criminal defendant is a contractual relationship. Whether that relationship actually comes into being must be judged by the same standards as any other contractual relationship."); State v. Russo (Me. 2008) 942 A.2d 694, 698 ("Plea agreements are contracts and contract principles apply when interpreting them. Furthermore, because a defendant's constitutional rights are implicated, agreements of this nature are subject to greater scrutiny than is normally afforded to commercial contracts."); In re Robertson (D.C. 2008) 940 A.2d 1050, 1059 ("[A] plea agreement is a contract. As a consequence, courts will look to principles of contract law to determine whether the plea agreement has been breached."); State v. Rivers (Conn. 2007) 931 A.2d 185, 192 ("[P]rinciples of contract law and special due process concerns for fairness govern our interpretation of plea agreements."); Evans v. State (Mo. App. 2004) 134 S.W.3d 725, 728 ("a plea agreement is a binding contract between the State and a defendant."); Washington v. State (Del. Super. 2004) 844 A.2d 293, 296 ("[P]lea agreements are undertaken for mutual advantage and governed by contract principles."); Ex parte Moussazadeh (Tex. Crim. App. 2001) 64 S.W.3d 404, 411 ("We apply general contract law principles to determine the content of a plea agreement in a criminal case."); State v. Welwood (Conn. 2001) 780 A.2d 924, 931 ("plea bargains [are] governed by contract principles"); State v. Hosey (Idaho 2000) 11 P.3d 1101, 1104 ("A plea agreement is contractual in nature and must be measured by contract law standards."); State v. Butts (Ohio App. 1996) 679 N.E.2d 1170, 1172 ("A plea bargain itself is contractual in nature and subject to contract-law standards."); State v. Wills (Kan. 1988) 765 P.2d 1114, 1118 ("We recognize that, before a plea of guilty is entered, the parties are free to contract subject to basically the same legal principles as apply in a commercial contract setting."); United States v. Yepez (9th Cir. 2011) 652 F.3d 1182, 1186, fn. 3 ("Plea agreements are generally construed according to the principles of contract law, and the government, as drafter, must be held to an agreement's literal terms.").

have been the intention of the parties."

This ruling is also consistent with virtually every other state and court in the country, all of which hold that contracts assume that the laws in effect at the formation of the contract bind the parties in the future, unless the parties make an agreement to the contrary.⁴

⁴ See, e.g., Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State (S.C. 2007) 642 S.E.2d 751, 756 ("[This] is a contract between Doe and the State, and it is a fundamental rule of contract construction that the law existing at the time and place of the making of a contract is a part of the contract. [S]tatutes and ordinances enacted subsequent to the execution of a contract, which add burdens or impair the obligations of the contract, may not be deemed to be a part of the agreement unless the language of the agreement clearly indicates this to have been the intention of the parties."); Fix v. Flagstar Bank, FSB (Tex. App. 2007) 242 S.W.3d 147, 155 ("It is well-established that laws in effect at the time a contract is entered into should govern the fulfillment of the contract. . . . [C]ourts are reluctant to change the rights and obligations of parties from those originally agreed to by retroactively applying a change in the original law."); Peterson v. District of Columbia Lottery and Charitable Games Control Bd. (D.C. 1996) 673 A.2d 664, 667 ("[G]enerally, in the absence of a provision expressly incorporating future amendments to a statute, the parties [to a contract] will not be bound by such changes."); New Jersey Mfrs. v. O'Connell (N.J. Super. 1997) 692 A.2d 51, 53-54 ("Settlements are contracts." Consequently, general principles of contract law apply. One of those common law principles is that a contract, valid at its inception, is not invalidated or eviscerated by a subsequent change in decisional or statutory law. The rationale underlying the premise is that the original terms of a contract incorporate the relevant law at the time the contract is made. Consequently, the contract should not be disturbed by subsequent changes in the law."); Ex parte Brannon (Ala. 1996) 683 So.2d 994, 997 ("Courts should not change contract law years after parties have entered an agreement based on the law that was in effect when they entered it; rather, such a change should be a matter for the legislature and such a change should apply only to those contracts entered into after the enactment of the legislation.") (emphasis added).); Pioneer Transp. Corp. v. Kaladjian (NY App. 1984) 481 N.Y.S.2d 136, 137 ("In the absence of a clear expression in the contract that such is the parties' intention, a court may not construe an agreement so that it is modified by a subsequent statutory enactment which changes the rights and obligations of the parties."); Feakes v. Bozyczko (Mass. 1977) 369 N.E.2d 978, 980 ("[L]aws enacted after

In City of Torrance v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1982) 32 Cal. 3d 371 this

Court explained:

Ordinarily, all applicable laws in existence when an agreement is made, which laws the parties are presumed to know and to have had in mind, necessarily enter into the contract and form a part of it, without any stipulation to that effect, as if they were expressly referred to and incorporated.

* * * *

[T]o hold that subsequent changes in the law which impose greater burdens or responsibilities upon the parties become part of that agreement would result in modifying it without their consent, and would promote uncertainty in commercial transactions. We recognize that the parties could have originally agreed to incorporate subsequent changes in the law . . . but there is no evidence that they did so in this case.

Id., 32 Cal.3d at 378 (quoting Swenson, 3 Cal.3d at 393); see also Equitable Bldg. & Loan

the execution of an agreement are not commonly considered to become part of the agreement unless its provisions clearly establish that the parties intended to incorporate subsequent enactments into their agreement."); Essex Group, Inc. v. Nill (Ind. App. 1992) 594 N.E.2d 503, 508 ("Laws enacted subsequent to the execution of the agreement are not a part of the contract unless the contract clearly indicates that it was the intention of the parties to incorporate subsequent changes in the law."); Hatcho Corp. v. Della Pietra (Conn. 1985) 485 A.2d 1285, 1288 ("[P]arties contract with reference to existing law, except when the contract discloses a contrary intention."); Florida Beverage Corp. v. Division of Beverages and Tobacco, Dep't of Business Regulation (Fla. App. 1987) 503 So.2d 396, 398-399 & fn. 2; S & D Service, Inc. v. 915-925 W. Schubert Condominium Ass'n (Ill. App. 1985) 478 N.E.2d 478, 483 ("By operation of law, the existing laws, statutes and ordinances become implied terms of the contract."); City of Little Rock v. Community Chest of Greater Little Rock (Ark. 1942) 163 S.W.2d 522, 524 ("[T]he law in effect at the date of the contract becomes a part of it, and that the law cannot thereafter be changed so as to alter the contractual rights of the parties thereto to their detriment.")

Ass'n v. Wolfangle (1931) 111 Cal. App. 119, 122.5

(3) Plea Agreements Are Interpreted to Give Effect to the Intent of the Parties

In *People v. Feyrer* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 426, 437, this Court also unanimously held that all civil contracts and plea agreements must be interpreted to give effect to the intent of the parties:

Because a negotiated plea agreement is a form of contract, it is interpreted according to general contract principles. The fundamental goal of contractual interpretation is to give effect to the mutual intention of the parties. The mutual intention to which the courts give effect is determined by objective manifestations of the parties' intent, including the words used in the agreement, as well as extrinsic evidence of such objective matters as the surrounding circumstances under which the parties negotiated or entered into the contract; the object, nature and subject matter of the contract; and the subsequent conduct of the parties.

Feyrer, 48 Cal.4th at 437 (punctuation omitted) (citing, among others, Civ. Code, § 1636).

⁵ Treatises and hornbooks recite this rule as gospel. *See*, *e.g.*, AMERICAN JURISPRUDENCE CONTRACTS 2d § 372 ("In construing a contract, a court must read into it the laws existing at the time it was made. However, statutes and ordinances enacted subsequent to the execution of a contract, which add burdens or impair the obligations of the contract, may not be deemed to be a part of the agreement unless the language of the agreement clearly indicates this to have been the intention of the parties. The courts may not construe an agreement so that it is modified by subsequent statutory enactments which change the rights and obligations of the parties, in the absence of a clear expression in the contract that such is the parties' intention."); WILLSTON ON CONTRACTS 4th § 30:23 ("The rule providing for incorporation of existing law into contracts applies to the law existing at the time the contract is executed. Thus, as a rule of construction, changes in the law subsequent to the execution of a contract are not deemed to become part of agreement unless its language clearly indicates such to have been intention of parties."); 1 WITKIN, SUMMARY OF CAL. LAW CONTRACTS, section 692, p. 625 (same).

The question before this Court is thus whether subsequently enacted changes in law can supercede the otherwise settled, enforceable, and valid terms of Doe's plea agreement.

B. California Courts Unanimously Hold That Material Terms of a Valid Plea Agreement Cannot Be Altered by Subsequent Legislation

In Santobello v. New York (1971) 404 U.S. 257, 262, the United States Supreme Court held that "when a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled."

Every court in California under *Santobello* has concluded that genuine plea terms must be enforced, regardless of subsequent changes in law.

The recently decided case, *People v. Jerry Z.* (2011) 133 Cal. Rptr. 3d 696, is directly on point. In *Jerry Z.*, the First District Court of Appeal ruled that under state contract law a defendant was entitled to enforcement of an unwritten implied promise in his plea agreement despite a subsequent change in law. The *Jerry Z* court enforced an implied term in the defendant's plea agreement that the collateral consequences of his sex crime conviction would be governed by the law in existence at the time of his plea. 133 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 707-09.

Jerry Z. involves a defendant who pled guilty in 1997 to continuous sexual abuse of his minor daughter. At the time of his conviction, state law provided that the defendant had an opportunity to expunge his criminal record after he completed his sentence and

probation. Subsequent to the defendant's plea, but before he could apply for expungement, the legislature amended the relevant statutes to prohibit certain sex offenders (including anyone convicted of continuous sexual abuse of a minor) from receiving the benefit of the expungement process. *Id.* at 700-705.

In 2008, the defendant filed for habeas relief in Superior Court, seeking specific performance of his plea bargain which, according to the defendant/petitioner, included an agreement with the district attorney that he would be able to expunge his record upon completing his punishment. The Superior Court denied the habeas petition on several grounds. The Court of Appeal reversed. It noted that there was an agreement between the defendant/petitioner and the district attorney that the law in effect at the time of the plea (which provided the defendant/petitioner an opportunity to expunge his record) would be available to him upon the completion of his sentence. The Court of Appeal explained:

Appellant and his attorney . . . claim he was expressly promised [expungement]. But even if the term was merely implicit — and the court below found in December 2007 it was at least that — appellant would be entitled under *Santobello*, to have the bargain enforced.

Jerry Z., 133 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 709.6

The instant case is on all fours with Jerry Z. Here, as in Jerry Z., a trial court

⁶ The First District reserved judgment on whether a plea agreement automatically incorporated the law in effect at the time of the plea, stating that this question is now before this Court in the instant matter. *Id.* at 709, n.12 (citing *Doe v. Harris*, 640 F.3d at 975–977).

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